University of Stavanger Faculty of Science and Technology		
MASTER'S THESIS		
Study program/Specialization: M. Sc. Risk Analysis and Governance	Spring semester, 2021 Open access	
Writer: Sebastián Andrés Frugone Cádiz	Strugene	
Faculty supervisor: Frederic Emmanuel Bouder		
External supervisor(s): Ole Kristian Sivertsen		
Thesis title: Mitigating Wicked Problems Through Sustainable Technological Innovation? The Case of Liquid Natural Clay Credits (ECTS): 30		
Key words: Wicked Problems Climate Change Desertification	Pages: 63	
Soil Degradation Complexity Ambiguity Uncertainty Sustainability Sustainable Development Sustainable Technological Innovation	Stavanger, 15/06/2021 Date/year	

MASTER THESIS

Mitigating Wicked Problems Through Sustainable Technological Innovation? The Case of Liquid Natural Clay

Written by

Sebastián Frugone

Supervised by

Frederic Bouder



Faculty of Science and Technology

Spring, 2021

Abstract

The complexity and wicked nature of climate change and the wide variety of its effects has created high uncertainty, knowledge gaps and ambiguities in relation to how to deal, manage, and cope with these issues. The solution alternatives seem ill formulated and ambiguous, and a high variety of actors with different values and visions, enhance these ambiguities, creating more uncertainty. In the face of these problems, the following research study aims to improve the approaches related to the solution alternatives to tackle them, by exploring and applying different elements and embedded in risk governance principles and other recommendations obtained from risk science, and putting them in practice through the analysis of the development and implementation of sustainable technological innovation product, corresponding to Liquid Natural Clay.

Table of Contents

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION
1.1 Background
1.2 Objectives
1.3 Content
CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1 Addressing Wicked Problems
2.2 Characteristics and Features of Wicked Problems10
2.3 Why Sustainability and Sustainable Development? Wicked Problems and Ill Solutions: The Wickedness of Sustainability
2.4 Sustainability; From Normativity to Functionality and Deliberation14
2.5 Systematic Risk Governance for Wicked Problems15
a. Multi- level Perspective in the Face of Wicked Problems
b. Stakeholder Involvement Through Multi- Level Perspective and Risk Governance17
2.6 Coping with Complexity, Uncertainty and Ambiguity Through Risk Science
2.6.1 On innovation
2.6.2 Sustainable Development and Sustainable Technological Innovations23
2.6.3 Innovation and Cooperation for Tackling Wicked Problems24
2.6.4 Complexity and Uncertainty Risk Related to Innovation25
2.6.5 Coping with Uncertainty and Complexity Related to Innovation
CHAPTER 3 RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY
3.1 Problem Statement
3.2 Research Questions
3.3 Methodology
3.4 Case Study
3.5 Desert Control
3.6 Research Limitations
CHAPTER 4 RESULTS
CHAPTER 5 CASE STUDY: ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION
5.1 Liquid Natural Clay (LNC)
5.2 Discussion: Dealing with Wicked Problems Through Global Solutions and Local Implementation

5.3 Desert Control and LNC: Materializing the Role of Technological Sustainable	Innovations 40
5.4 Improving Management of Wicked Problems Through Risk Science	47
CHAPTER 6 CONCLUSIONS	50
REFERENCES	51

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

Climate change can be understood as one of the most important and urgent problems of the 21st century, and while its notion of a global problem is widely accepted, the issue of what to do remains highly controversial and contradictory, with different disciplines providing a variety of recommendations for a problem that is complex, interconnected, contradictory, and uncertain, with multiple and conflicting inputs and multiple possible outcomes (Sun & Yang, 2016; Sardar, 2019). Therefore, the problem of climate change has been increasingly described as a wicked problem (Sun & Yang, 2016; Head, 2008.).

Climate change can be understood as a wicked problem due to its condition as a huge, complex, and systemic risk, difficult to define, and challenging to predict the potential consequences of solutions. In addition, a diverse variety of stakeholders provide conflicting information related to climate change, together with its relevance and effects due to different interests. Furthermore, the challenges present in the context of climate change, make it difficult to find efficient solutions to the problem or predict the potential results, enhancing the wicked nature of the problem (Lehtonen et al, 2018; Incropera, 2015).

Climate change constitutes a pressure that changes and endangers ecosystems, together with the goods and services they naturally provide, from which the environment and human systems depend. Considering the urgent relevance of climate change, the case that will be addressed in relation to this issue, is the one of desertification and soil degradation, due to human activities that have led to climatic variations (Sivakumar, 2007).

Soil represents an important component of land, with numerous functions and ecosystem services essential for life. Yet, when soil becomes degraded, the capacity of soil to support functions, and provide services for humans and the ecosystems is disrupted. When it comes to soil degradation and desertification, climate change affects and is affected by it through a circular feedback (Lal, 2012). Hence, restoration of degraded soils is vital for tackling climate change and reducing the threats to sustainable development (Gichuki et al, 2019). Therefore, by contemplating the wicked nature of the issues at stake, it is important to consider that in the attempts to solve a wicked problem, each proposed solution may carry with it the risk of

creating new problems that may also be wicked, complex and surrounded by high uncertainty (Sun & Yang, 2016).

Thus, it is suggested that the wicked problem of climate change should be handled by means of multiple innovative approaches to governance, as well as new problem-solving techniques, such as innovation and the development of sustainable novel technologies (Sun & Yang, 2016; Sanderson, 2002).

This is why in the face of this challenge, the United Nations proposed in 2015, 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) to promote prosperity, while protecting the planet and the environment, recognizing that development must go hand-in-hand with strategies that build economic growth and address a multi-level range of social needs, while tackling climate change and environmental protection (United Nations, 2015).

Nevertheless, the concept and role of sustainability and sustainable development, has presented limitations and struggles when it comes to dealing with wicked problems, under the argument that sustainability represents a contested concept, highly characterized by its ambiguity, complexity and uncertainty, which creates more wicked problems. Nevertheless, the critics towards sustainability presented in the reviewed literature, seem to fall short in providing or proposing solutions for tackling this urgent issue, for which the emergence of technological sustainable innovations has been proposed to be the most crucial and relevant measure (Su & Moaniba, 2017).

1.2 Objectives General Objective:

The main objective is to explore through systematic risk-based approaches that wicked problems related to climate change, and ill formulated and wicked solutions, such as sustainability and sustainable development together with their embedded complexity, ambiguity, and uncertainty, can be mitigated through the implementation of technological sustainable innovation measures, that are improved and supported by the inclusion of systematic risk governance based- approaches.

Specific Objectives:

- Validate systematic risk-based approaches as a tool for supporting the mitigation wicked problems through the development and implementation of technological sustainable innovation.
- 2) Propose the improvement of technological sustainable innovation by integrating risk-based models to their development and implementation.

1.3 Content

Chapter 1 presents the Introduction to this research, with the background knowledge for the development of the thesis, and an outline of the general and specific objectives. Chapter 2 provides a Literature Review in which the concepts of wicked problems, sustainability, sustainable development, and innovation will be addressed, together with their challenges in relation to complexity, uncertainty and ambiguity, and how to cope with these challenges through the arguments and suggestions of different authors. Chapter 3 presents the Research Design, Methodology, and the selected Case Study. In Chapter 4 the Results provided by this thesis are presented. Chapter 5 includes The Case Study Analysis and the Discussion and Analysis of the Results. Chapter 6 provides the final Conclusions

CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Addressing Wicked Problems

Climate change has been described as a wicked problem, embedded in elements of complexity, ambiguity, and uncertainty. These characteristics have also raised problems in relation to the potential solutions that are presented as "sustainable", concept that has been criticized for being limited when dealing with wicked problems, and therefore, sustainable innovations have been suggested to be a highly relevant and crucial measure for mitigating these issues. Yet, considering the critics and the lack of agreement and arbitrage regarding the necessary actions for mitigating the effects of climate change, how have these concepts been defined and addressed in the academia? What is so wicked about wicked problems, and what has made the potential solutions inadequate for dealing with these problems? To what extent has risk-science been suggested for understanding and supporting the ability for dealing with the complexity, uncertainty, and ambiguity related to wicked problems?

The following chapter, aims to answer these questions by defining and addressing the concept of wicked problems, together with its characteristics and features, followed by the definitions and role of sustainability and sustainable development for dealing with wicked problems, by generating some arbitrage in relation to the ambiguity of these concepts. In addition, systematic approaches to risk governance, are suggested, to address the different levels of issues generated by complex issues related to climate change. Finally, different risk-based approaches will be proposed for dealing and coping with the complexity, ambiguity and uncertainty embedded in wicked problems.

The sections are followed by a generic definition of the concept of innovation, and the approach to the concept that will be utilized throughout this study, corresponding to technological sustainable innovation. Subsequently, technological innovation will be presented as a mean for tackling wicked problems, while acknowledging the challenges related to the emergence of novel technologies with complex outcomes, and how to cope with these challenges through risk science.

2.2 Characteristics and Features of Wicked Problems

According to Rittel & Webber (1973), the term "wicked" refers to something of malignant, vicious, tricky, or aggressive nature, and every wicked problem can be a symptom of another wicked problem.

They refer to that class of problems which are ill-formulated, the information is confusing, and too many stakeholders with conflicting values are involved. The adjective "wicked" is supposed to describe the highly conflictive and even evil quality of these problems, where proposed solutions often turn out to be worse than the symptoms, as it has been argued for the concepts of sustainability and sustainable development (Churchman, 1967).

Wicked problems are also embedded with notions of complexity, which refers to the difficulty of identifying and quantifying causal links between a multitude of conflicting and cooperating clusters, their positive and negative feedback loops, and the specific adverse effects (Renn et al, 2011; Renn, 2008). Complexity related to wicked problems also defies conventional and simple solutions (FitzGibbon & Mensah, 2012). This is because wicked problems are not solved by using the tools and processes that are fixated in creating them, neither are they resolved by approaches limited on explicating the complex interconnections of the multiple causes, consequences, and cross-scale actors of the problem (FitzGibbon & Mensah, 2012).

In addition, the complexity of wicked problems assumes that the relationships among variables are not linear, and slight changes in the initial conditions, may produce significant deviations in the potential outcomes. On the other hand, systems embedded in wicked problems, are also unrestricted, which leads to the allowance of influences from the outside while at the same time, these complex systems tend to involve multiple actors, that can play either a causal role, a stakeholder role, or both, enhancing as well the complexities related to interactions (Peters, 2017).

Wicked problems are also linked to high uncertainty, which makes them so apparently troublesome (Head & Alford, 2008; Van Bueren et al, 2003; Koppenjan & Klijn, 2004). In these cases, three different types of uncertainty are identified, which are related to the complex characteristics of wicked problems. On the first place, there are substantive uncertainties, which refers to gaps and conflicting understandings in the knowledge base, as

it happens both in the case of sustainability and climate change, which leads to no agreed nor clear understanding of the nature of wicked problems. On the second place, there is the strategic uncertainty, referring to the fact that many actors are involved, with many different preferences, having an unpredictable interaction between their perspectives. Finally, there are the institutional uncertainties, referring to the variety of organizational locations, networks, and regulatory regimes to which the different relevant actors are attached to, which turns and increases the likelihood of processes for reaching decisions concerning wicked problems, to be messy and uncoordinated (Head & Alford, 2008).

As well, complexity in wicked problems is likely to generate knowledge gaps, diverse interests and a high variety of stakeholder's perspectives, enhancing the creation of high levels of ambiguity that is added to the different types of uncertainty (Sediri el al, 2020; Rittel & Webber, 1973).

Another aspect that highlights complexity in wicked problems, is the fact that they concern global issues, as it occurs in the case of climate change, and the need for sustainable development in the face of desertification, soil degradation and its ripple effects on human life and the environment, issues that cannot be solved in traditional ways or by simple solutions (Blok et al, 2015).

Climate change represents a wicked problem, because it is a huge, complex, and systemic challenge, that cannot be easily defined (Lehtonen el al, 2019; Incropera 2015). Besides, it presents great scientific, economic, and social complexity and uncertainty, with solutions that have unforeseen consequences, together with conflicting information provided by different Stakeholders related to the relevance and impacts of climate change. This produces profound lack of agreements on what the problem is, what the potential causes and consequences are, and which possible solutions might exist. Therefore, and since linear and traditional models seem limited in the context of wicked problems, understanding and identifying the global and local perspectives and other interconnected phenomena, demand new strategies of learning, thinking, and acting (Lehtonen et al, 2019).

As a wicked problem, climate change and its ripple effects cannot be easily tackled, and although sustainability and sustainable development are broadly suggested to help reduce the consequential vulnerability, the uncertainties related to the rate of climate change raise questions about whether achieving sustainability could happen fast enough to make a difference (Beg et al, 2002).

2.3 Why Sustainability and Sustainable Development? Wicked Problems and Ill Solutions: The Wickedness of Sustainability

When it comes to sustainable development in relation to climate change mitigation, Robert et al (2005), argue that sustainable development and climate change interact profoundly on several levels. Furthermore, and as indicated by the climate change literature, reducing greenhouse gas emissions, and increasing adaptability will contribute to a range of sustainable development goals both related and unrelated to climate (Idem).

In terms of its definition, and according to Renn & Goble (2009), sustainable development corresponds to economic progress and environmental quality embedded in one vision. This vision corresponds also to an economic structure that meets all needs of the present generation, without restricting the needs of future generations, through the reconciliation of the economy with the ecology, which are terms often seen as opposites.

Sustainability may then be understood as the maintaining of well-being over a long or indefinite period, while covering largely the environmental dimension. Sustainability, then, is a matter of which resources are essential, together with the environmental quality bestowed and preserved for coming generations (Kuhlman & Farrington, 2010).

On the other hand, sustainable development, under the definition of the Brundtland Report (1987), corresponds to the ability to meet the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. However, and since the report, several different definitions have been articulated and promoted, leading to the lack of a clear, fixed, and unchangeable meaning (Robert et al, 2005).

Yet, and although the Brundtland definition for sustainable development has become the most accepted and generally agreed definition, it falls short in providing practical guidance. In addition, the attempts for specificity are likely to generate conflicts in values and interests, leading to strategic differences between stakeholders and other interest groups invested in developing a vision of the future, and those whose goal is to identify steps towards improving the future (Renn et al, 1998; Milbrath, 1989; Olson, 1994).

Though, and while the concepts of sustainability and sustainable development have been suggested as a mean for helping in reducing the vulnerabilities related to climate change, the concepts have also been highly criticized for presenting several elements embedded in wicked problems, hampering its potential for further development and application. This is because multiple stakeholders are involved in defining its scope, having different values and objectives, which leads to different views and definitions of sustainability. Furthermore, and by considering that wicked problems have no stopping rule, sustainability is presented as dynamic, and its time horizon is indeterminable, which raises the question whether it can happen fast enough to make a difference (Beg et al, 2002; Brønn & Simcic, 2018). In addition, and by considering that every wicked problem is a symptom of another problem, issues around sustainability are usually consequences of established and dynamic nature of the multiple systems involved (Brønn & Simcic, 2018).

Furthermore, Pryshlakivsky & Searcy (2012), argue that sustainability is marked by a high degree of stakeholder subjectivity, and often characterized by a lack of clarity, uncertainty, ambiguity, complexity, and limited understanding. Among other challenges, these characteristics make establishing appropriate analytical boundaries problematic.

Moreover, complexity regarding sustainability is enhanced by insufficient rules and regulations, since the preferred outcomes are not always clear, the norms to measure these outcomes can be contested by other stakeholders, and its future impact cannot always be foreseen because of the uncertainty of the wicked problems. Besides, insights and knowledge about sustainability are constantly and rapidly changing, and therefore the adjustments and regulations often come too late (Blok et al, 2015). In addition, and because sustainability is an ambiguous and argued concept, there will be disagreements about the direction of sustainability transitions (Stirling, 2009).

Therefore, and by considering that sustainability and its achievement is a highly contested topic because of its complexity, ambiguity, and related uncertainties, in addition of being infrequent long-term macro-changes, it is difficult to construct large databases that can be analyzed statistically for relationships between variables, and consequently, other types of theories and methodologies are needed. These theories should be multi-level, because it is unlikely that only one kind of causal factor or mechanism can explain entire sustainable transition processes (Geels, 2011).

2.4 Sustainability; From Normativity to Functionality and Deliberation

Considering that the concept of sustainability is highly contested and has been criticized for being theoretically ill-founded and lacking practical impact (Renn et al, 2009), there is also the issue that the idea of sustainability is intrinsically normative (Schmieg et al, 2018), and therefore, based on the literature reviewed for purposes of this study, the decisions are made in order to achieve sustainable outcomes, which as mentioned in the previous section, is an ambiguous and contested concept, instead of presenting sustainability as a decision- making approach *per-se*.

By taking into account the normative nature of sustainability and sustainable development, and in an attempt to give relevance to the concept for supporting a decision-making process, rather than just focusing in decisions directed to achieve sustainability, Renn et al (2009), suggested that the conceptualization of sustainability should be marked by a normative-functional understanding of societal development, because change and development for societies, is induced by the need for adaptations inspired and shaped by normative, goal-oriented visions of desirable 'futures' (Giddens, 1991; Cohen and Levinthal, 1990; Jaeger et al., 2001).

Therefore, and by acknowledging societal development and cultural change in relation to sustainable development and ecosystem protection, Renn (2012) argues that the future of humanity does not depend on the preservation of the original nature, but on the preservation of the anthropogenic ecosystems, in order for humans to thrive. These anthropogenic ecosystems we live on, need constant constructive interventions to make the environment a productive resource, otherwise it will not provide the services and goods that are expected from it (Renn, 2012).

These interventions can be sustainable solutions directed to deal with wicked problems, and thus, by combing normative standards and functional statements, the concept of sustainability aims at concrete, dimensions, criteria, and indicators for sustainable development (Renn et al, 2009).

Different from normative approaches, functional requirements are based on the idea that phenomena and institutions have functions within a societal or ecological system, having goals that are coinciding with normative ideas (Renn et al 2009).

Combining both approaches prevents the excessive application of one of them (Renn, 2012), which helps overcoming some of the issues discussed in relation to sustainability and sustainable development. In this way, the combination of normative and functional perspectives gives a clearer visibility to norms, leading to transparency in the decision-making processes, adding also the potential to formulate relevant dimensions of sustainability and to deduce adequate criteria and indicators leading to a coherent understanding of sustainability, therefore reducing its ambiguity (Renn, 2012).

Transparency also acquires extra relevance when the public becomes part of the decisionmaking process, by defining targets of sustainable development due to the integration of expertise, interests, and public values, which is a rich contribution to the deliberation process, that also gives legitimacy to the decision-making process (Renn et al, 2009; von Schomberg, 1995). Henceforth, and as argued by Ward (2003) cooperation among actors in different levels is critical, so different levels and dynamics can be addressed.

2.5 Systematic Risk Governance for Wicked Problems

According to van Asselt & Renn (2011), wicked problems are not simple- risk problems, and cannot be treated as a linear or simple risk. Therefore, a systematic risk governance through a multi-level perspective is suggested, to help producing more reliable and valid judgments about the complex nature of wicked problems (Renn, 2015).

a. Multi-level Perspective in the Face of Wicked Problems

In complex cases such as the ones addressed as wicked problems, the appeal of applying a multi-level perspective, rests in engagement that this perspective has with the different dynamics of large-scale socio-technical systems, that are likely to present persistent sustainability challenges (Smith et al, 2010; Rotmans et al., 2001; Berkhout, 2000; Elzen et al., 2004). Additionally, a multi-level perspective provides a quite straightforward way of simplifying the analysis of complex, large-scale structural transformations related to the normative goal of sustainable development. However, and although a multi-level framework is attractive, it is not free of challenges (Smith et al, 2010).

On the first place, challenges related to this framework, are linked to plural regimes and niches in interaction (Smith et al, 2010). In this case, niches represent protected spaces where actors work on innovation that deviate from existing regimes, hoping that novelties are applied in the regime or even replace it. Yet this is not easy because the existing regime is stabilized by lock-in mechanisms and because sustainable innovations may mismatch the existing regime dimensions, such as multiple stakeholders' interest, regulations, and practices (Geels, 2011). On the other hand, the regime corresponds to the socio-technical 'deep structure' that accounts for the stability of an existing socio-technical system (Geels 2011; Geels, 2004). It refers to the semi-coherent set of rules that orient and coordinate the activities of the social groups that reproduce the various elements of socio-technical systems (Geels, 2011).

Yet, complexity confronts the multi-level perspective when a homogenous, uniform, and incumbent regime is involved and challenged by a sustainable niche, together with the competition with unsustainable practices in niches more aligned with the interests of the regime. In other words, the challenge is to understand whether the overall performance of different niches that interact with regimes, can be recognized on an early stage, to act against, and prevent a system lock-in, in relation to unsustainable developments (Smith et al, 2011).

Nevertheless, and although regimes are presented as homogeneous and uniform, they allow for the possibility of tensions between rules due to internal tensions, disagreements, and conflicts of interests, disagreement on specific issues, debate, and internal conflict, making them complex systems that also allow the emergence of niche-sustainable innovations to tackle wicked problems (Geels, 2011). In this case, and to achieve coherence related to sustainable development, it may be relevant to pay more attention to multi-regime interactions to enhance the growth of novel niche innovations (Geels, 2011; Raven, 2007; Konrad et al., 2008).

Therefore, and by considering that the wicked problem of climate change and sustainability is enhanced by multiple actors, with multiple interests and visions, due to the complexity of the issues at stake, long-term visions of sustainability can function as a guide for formulating short-term and mid-term objectives. Nevertheless, cooperation among actors should be of critical importance, as no single actor has the managing capabilities to fully address the issues that are present in different levels and dynamics. Following this logic, each actor should redefine their roles, competences and procedures in interaction and co-production with the other relevant stakeholders to formulate joint goals and common strategies, based on a multi-level perspective in which uncertainties and risks are acknowledge and governed (Ward, 2003).

b. Stakeholder Involvement Through Multi- Level Perspective and Risk Governance

While continuing to recognize the centrality of complexity and uncertainty, a broader approach would be of better use for helping to tackle wicked problems since, when related to sustainable development, there is a requirement for acting at several levels. On the other hand, and as it has been previously stated, the wicked problem of climate change and sustainable development becomes emphasized and enhanced by the role of stakeholder perceptions, values, and interests in regards of the issues at stake, with respect to how issues are scoped, priorities are set, and potential solutions considered. (Head, 2018).

Yet, Head & Alford (2015) argue that the issue of complexity and stakeholder divergence as aspects of wicked problems, can be tackled through novel approaches of collaboration and coordination, together with an adaptive-thinking approach, that includes a strong focus on taking into account problems from several perspectives, designing instruments and programs that include complexity and ambiguity, accounting for uncertainties, and strengthening the collaborative capacities.

Wicked problems may need to be approached on different levels of analysis and using a range of instruments, since there is no 'one best solution' (Head, 2018; Verweij &Thompson, 2006).

Therefore, and by considering that the handling of collectively relevant and complex risk problems such as climate change and sustainable development should be shifted from traditional approaches to a multi-level perspective that accounts for a multitude of actors, and their perceptions and evaluations that draw on a diversity of knowledge and evidence claims, value commitments and interests, the processes of risk analysis, decision-making, and risk management become influenced by these elements (Klinke & Renn, 2011; Jasanoff, 2004). In this case, the diversity offered by a multi-level perspective, can provide considerable

advantages when complex, uncertain and ambiguous risk problems need to be addressed. This is because, on the first place, risk problems can be managed at different levels through different scopes. Secondly, this perspective opens a window for flexible, adaptive, and integrative risk governance systems, making them more resilient and less vulnerable. Finally, the larger number of actors facilitates experimentation and learning (Klinke & Renn, 2011; Renn, 2008).

Though, and when it comes to developing and selecting appropriate management options for risk mitigation in situations of high uncertainty, ambiguity, and complexity, challenges are found when related to the characterization and evaluation of the severity of a risk problem when the potential damage is unknown and highly uncertain. Therefore, various stakeholders ought to be involved in the risk characterization process to discuss and contemplate the trade-offs between over and under protection in relation to risk vs risk or risk superior options. However, if too much precaution is applied, innovative measures may be impeded or eliminated, and if too little precaution is applied, undesired consequences may occur (Klinke & Renn, 2011).

Yet, and although a high variety of stakeholder involvement has been presented as an enhancer for the issues related to the wicked problem of sustainability and climate change, their involvement in relation to a multi-level perspective and risk governance, could also help producing more reliable and valid judgments about the complex nature of a given risk. In addition, such an involvement process could aid finding the most accurate description and explanation of the complexity in question, as well as a helping clarify conflicting views. This might also generate a profile of the complexity of the risk issue based on intersubjectively chosen criteria and reveal hidden uncertainty and ambiguity. In terms of the ambiguity related to wicked problems, the involvement of different stakeholders can offer opportunities to resolve conflicting views and expectations through a process of identifying predominant common values, and to define options that will allow a desirable lifestyle without compromising the vision of others (Renn, 2015).

By understanding the Stakeholders involvement as a core feature in adaptive and multi-level perspective, and by adding risk governance features, these models in conjunction can aid to address challenges raised by complexity, uncertainty, and ambiguity. Hence, this is a crucial

dimension to produce and deliver adaptive and integrative capacity in risk governance, especially when considering the social acceptance of any response of risk governance to risk problems associated with complexity, uncertainty and/or ambiguity, which is critical. Therefore, risk handling and response strategies need to be flexible and the risk management approaches need to be frequent and inclusionary (Klinke & Renn, 2011).

2.6 Coping with Complexity, Uncertainty and Ambiguity Through Risk Science

Considering that climate change, its ripple effects, together with sustainability and sustainable development are considered as wicked problems, they are surrounded by complexity, ambiguity, and uncertainty, together with multiple actors, individuals, and institutions involved, which contrasts with simple risk problems, where a probabilistic analysis can provide an optimal structure for analysis and mitigation (Aven, 2019).

Due to its complexity and wicked nature, climate change risk can be also understood as a systemic risk, which, according to Renn (2016), can be characterized by their global nature, together with a high interconnection and intertwines that leads to complex structures, as well as nonlinear cause-effect relationships, that are random in the structure of their effects (Aven, 2019). Systemic risks are not limited to national borders or single sectors, and do not fit the monocausal model of risk, being multi-causal, and encircled by complexity, uncertainty and/or ambiguity (Klinke & Renn 2002; Renn 2008).

Hence, and by considering the characteristics embedded in systemic risks and wicked problems, the analysis should set focus on the interdependencies, ripple, and spill-over effects that initiate impact cascades between other unrelated risk clusters (Renn et al, 2011; Hellstroem 2001).

It is due to the high uncertainty, complexity, and ambiguity, that risk -related decisionmaking in the face of wicked problems is not just about risks or a single risk. Evaluation requires risk–benefit assessments and risk vs risk tradeoffs, leading to a more multidimensional spectrum for risk evaluation (Renn et al, 2011).

When it comes to risk trade-offs, the general problem is that the efforts to tackle a target risk can unintentionally generate countervailing risks, better known as side effects or unintended consequences, and unless decisionmakers consider the full set of possible outcomes associated with each risk reduction effort, a systematic emergence for risk tradeoffs will occur. Therefore, the likelihood and severity of the countervailing risks should be evaluated against the target risk, to support decision-making in regards of the most optimal course of action, while also allowing long-term alternative seeking, to reduce the target risk, avoiding countervailing risks. These alternatives can be understood as risk-superior, which can reduce the overall risk, rather than trading one risk for another (Graham & Wiener, 1995).

Yet, Foss & Tickner (2008), suggest that, even in the presence of risk tradeoffs and countervailing risks, there should be acts to prevent them, through alternative assessments that pursue risk-superior alternatives. In other words, alternatives should be considered carefully to ensure maintenance of functionality, and cost effectiveness while minimizing the potential for causing countervailing risks. The alternatives assessment, together with the pursue of risk-superior alternatives may also help identifying solutions and opportunities for innovation (Foss & Tickner, 2008; Rossi et al, 2006).

Therefore, the recognition of complexity embedded in wicked problems could help to motivate the searching for risk-superior options, such as innovations with capacity to reduce multiple risks in concert (Wiener, 2004).

On the other hand, and by considering the wicked nature of climate change, soil degradation and desertification, solution alternatives and innovation should also have a focus on its potential for sustainability, which plays a key role for tackling these issues. According to Robinson & Herbert (2001), sustainable development and climate change interact on a high variety of levels, and sustainable initiatives can make a major contribution for mitigating global warming, even in the absence of explicit climate policy. Sustainable initiatives can also increase the desirability for going beyond narrow treatments of climate change and it is of critical importance for alternative development paths.

Together with the search for risk-superior options and alternative assessments, the importance of a sustainable approach, and by considering the complexity and the variety of elements of the issues at stake, governance principles have also been developed to achieve a new approach for the identification, assessment, management, and communication of risks related to complex and wicked problems (Aven, 2019). Risk governance includes the totality of actors, rules, conventions, processes, and mechanisms involved with how relevant risk

information is gathered, analyzed, and communicated and how management decisions are taken, and it has particular importance for cases where the risk requires the collaboration and coordination between various stakeholders (Renn & Roco, 2006).

Yet, risk governance may present deficiencies, where elements are lacking, failures are present, or actions are not taken and/or prove unsuccessful. The potential consequences of these deficits can be severe in terms of human life, and the environment. There may be a failure to trigger necessary action, which may be costly, or, contrarily, inefficient action may be taken, resulting costly in terms of wasted resources leading to the need for flexibility (Aven, 2011).

Thus, and since tackling wicked problems requires the search for risk-superior alternatives, translated into solutions and opportunities for innovations capable of mitigating the target risk, while avoiding collateral damage, and ensuring sustainability, alternatives are sought to open windows of opportunity for the emergence of responsible sustainable innovation.

However, aiming towards sustainable innovation technologies also involves high complexity due to a variety of conflicting goals, and multiple perspectives of stakeholders on what sustainable development is and how to achieve it. Consequently, there is often no single optimum valued as sustainable by one group of people, since it can also be valued disastrous by others. Hence, finding common agreed solutions for wicked problems requires the exploration of solution scenarios, including the engagement of stakeholders (Zijp, 2017; Roberts, 2000).

In order to achieve the most optimal solution alternative, Zijp et al (2016), suggest the merging of key elements from risk assessment, risk governance, adaptive management, and sustainability assessment frameworks, while exploring solutions upfront the evaluation of risk vs risk tradeoffs, producing comparative levels of risk, and alternative solution scenarios, based on multiple metrics, such as people, planet, and profit/prosperity, followed by selecting the most promising solutions while adapting management when needed, and therefore, supporting decision-making.

Henceforth, and by considering the importance of finding risk-superior alternatives that can also ensure a certain degree of sustainability, the sustainability assessment plays a relevant role in directing decision-making towards sustainable alternatives (Bond & Morrison-Saunders, 2011).

Yet, for most multi-level wicked problems, the solution alternatives may imply trade-offs on sustainability metrics, leading to no single optimum (Zijp, 2017). Therefore, the management of trade-offs in sustainability assessment requires processes focused on optimizing sustainability outcomes (Bond et al, 2012).

Nevertheless, wicked problems are not simple- risk problems, and cannot be treated as a linear function of probability and effects (van Asselt & Renn, 2011). Hence, sustainabilityoriented management solutions are especially needed when the carrying of an activity that has been banned based on a single risk metric evaluation, is allowed or stimulated by a multimetric sustainability assessment, leaving a minimal a priory limit to alternative approaches to tackle those problems (Zijp et al, 2016). In an ideal case, the best solution is defined by all sustainability metrics being optimal, so this best solution can be implemented. However, for most wicked problems, the solutions imply trade-offs on sustainability metrics, so there is no single optimum. A management choice is thereafter made, by applying the agreed output (Idem).

2.6.1 On innovation

The concept of innovation comprises a wide variety of literature that includes different interpretations and understandings about the meaning of innovation (Taylor, 2017; Fagerberg et al, 2005; Linton, 2009). The concept of innovation is tightly coupled to change and providing solutions, as is it used as a tool to influence on the environment, or to react due to changing environments, internal or external (Bareghehet al, 2009; Damanpour, 1991). Nonetheless, innovation involves a wide range of different types of change depending on the resources, capabilities, and strategies, in accordance with the context in which is required, needed, or proposed, and common types of innovation involve new products, materials, processes, services, and new organizational forms (Bareghehet et al, 2009; Ettlie & Reza, 1992). Therefore, innovation is involved in a high variety of disciplines for which each propose definitions aligned with the dominant paradigm of the discipline (Bareghehet al, 2009).

Yet, for this investigation purposes, innovation will be addressed in terms of novel technologies directed to climate change effects mitigation, specifically when it comes to soil degradation and desertification, and other related issues.

By taking into account these particular cases, the development and usage of technologies was suggested in the Conference of Parties of the United Nations Framework Convention for Climate Change, in which it was agreed in 2015 to limit the increase of global temperature to 2 °C above pre-industrial levels by 2020 (Su & Moaniba, 2017; UNFCCC, 2015), and the developing and deploying environmentally friendly innovation technologies was presented as one of the main actions needed by countries to achieve this goal (Su & Moaniba, 2017).

2.6.2 Sustainable Development and Sustainable Technological Innovations

Despite being criticized for presenting elements of wicked problems, the concept of sustainable development has been popularized due to its key principles, which aim to integrate environmental, social, and economic concerns into the different aspects of decision-making. In addition, it presents an inherent interdependence between the long-term stability of the environment and the economy, which is the foundation of the field of sustainable development (Emas, 2015). Is this interdependence which places the focus of sustainable development into the tackling of sources of environmental degradation, while still providing opportunities and creating incentives for economic advancement (Emas, 2015; Porter & van der Linde, 1995).

Hence, the overall goal of sustainable development, is the long-term stability and harmony of the economy and environment, goal that is achievable through the integration and acknowledgement of economic, environmental, and social concerns throughout the decision-making process (Emas, 2015).

Thus, due to these principles and objectives, the terms sustainable development and sustainable innovation are often used, even though the existing literature on the topic has concluded that there is no established definition of sustainable innovation, sustainability, and sustainable development. It is due to this ambiguity, and lack of a clear definition, that, in order to further develop this research, the proposed definition for sustainable innovation will be based on elements taken from Ottosson et al (2016) and Emas (2015), for which sustainable innovation, represent the development of long-term focus novel technologies,

that are environmentally responsible, providing solutions for the society and its users, in order to mitigate the effects caused by climate change and generate win-win opportunities for the environment and the economy (Ottosson et al, 2016; Emas, 2015).

2.6.3 Innovation and Cooperation for Tackling Wicked Problems

Both innovation and wicked problems should be dealt with in a context of uncertainty and risk, and both require collective actions (Oksanen & Hautamäki, 2015; van Bueren et al., 2003). It is due to the high relevance that collective actions have, that the United Nations (2020), in the face of the wicked problem of climate change, has suggested that a systemic change is of the essence in order to achieve a low-emissions, highly-resilient and more sustainable future. Therefore, technological innovations are considered to play a critical role in this process, by enhancing and accelerating the implementation of Nationally-Determined Contributions, in order to keep global warming below 2°C, and other long and medium-term climate change strategies in order to provide opportunities to accelerate climate action.

Innovation is associated with problem solving and considering that most of its challenges are related to wicked problems, creative approaches together with collective actions are required, due to its complexity. Thus, when succeeded, cooperation may lead to the solutions that provide means to tap into a significant, long term innovation potential (Hautamäki & Oksanen, 2016).

Sustainable innovation has its roots in sustainable development, and it is based on ethically, socially, economically, and environmentally sustainable principles, aiming to combine competitiveness, the well-being of people, and sustainable solutions (Idem).

The core base of this concept is of critical relevance when considering that the global economy is experiencing an unprecedented, growth which is putting an enormous strain on global and local ecosystems. This has raised the demand for scarce natural resources, which has also depleted water, fertile soils, forests, and biodiversity (Altenburg & Pegels, 2012; Rockström et al, 2009)

Changing to sustainable patterns of development through technological innovation, while ensuring decent levels of resource access for all the world's citizens is the greatest challenge of our time. Also, and while the need for new generations of resource-efficient technologies is acknowledged, its development may also impulse a paradigm shift that could potentially entail a change in societal norms and values, motivating new life styles, and different ways of accounting for development and economic incentive schemes that systematically internalise environmental costs. However, the main challenge for sustainability-oriented innovation to try to disrupt firmly established, but environmentally unsustainable trajectories (Altenburg & Pegels, 2012), as suggested by Smith et al (2011) in regards to the niches and the need to understand the overall performance of different niches in their early stage, on the face of firmly established regimes, in order to be able to act against, and prevent an enclosure in relation to unsustainable practices and developments.

Finally, and considering that sustainable technological innovations are directed to tackle wicked problems taking into account the importance of a multi-level perspective due to the complexity embedded in these issues, the development of such novel technologies may prove to be useful in providing solutions that are needed when an activity is banned based on the evaluation of single risk metrics, whilst the same activity would be allowed or stimulated after accounting for its potential for mitigating the effects of wicked problems while contributing to sustainable development (Zijp et al, 2016).

2.6.4 Complexity and Uncertainty Risk Related to Innovation

While technological innovations may help tackling wicked problems and also be considered as a main driver of growth and sustainable development, they are also uncertain and ambiguous due their novel characteristics that lead to a lack of knowledge on potential risks of emerging technologies (Temel & Durst, 2020; Henschel and Durst, 2016). These perceived risks may also be reflected in the technological complexity of the project (Roper & Tapinos, 2016).

On the other hand, the uncertainty related to technological innovation and its risks, are associated mainly with the potential failure of novel technologies to achieve the desired outcomes, or issues related to the project development time (Roper & Tapinos, 2016; Menon et al., 2002), which also enhances the uncertainties related to the rate of climate change, and the wicked nature of sustainability, by questioning whether achieving it could happen fast enough to make a difference, hampering potential attempts to develop novel technologies (Beg et al, 2002).

This is mostly because the adapting of complex systems is intrinsically unpredictable, and innovation constantly changes the human impact upon the biosphere and can also increase the effects of these impacts in new and unexpected ways (Newman, 2005; Newman & Dale, 2005). In addition, innovations can give rise to new needs, and introducing new technologies, without evaluating and assessing its effects, may involve new hazards and generate reductions in resources spent on other measures implemented or planned for climate change mitigation (Abrahamsen et al, 2018).

Moreover, novel technologies often result in slow learning curves, and the need for training on its usage is generally underestimated. Furthermore, training is time consuming, and time is a limited resource, and training in the use of new technology may take time away from other activities that could also help mitigating the effects of climate change. Finally, it would be necessary to allocate time and resources for regular refreshing training to maintain or improve technical competences of the novel technologies (Gelyani et al,2014).

Similarly, Jalonen (2011), has pointed that, although innovation is required to contribute both to short and long-term results, its potential consequences cause uncertainty because they cannot be predicted in advance, especially when it comes to long term consequences.

One aspect that could be attributed to enhance the uncertainties related to technological innovations, is the fact that technology can also be considered as complex systems, due to its many interacting parts and elements, internal and external. In addition, technological innovation also represents a collective process in which actors and stakeholders are engaged in continuous process of mutual learning, which bears important implications for the efficiency and effectiveness of collective learning processes. Yet, complexity also allows to capture more realistic features of the innovation process, while avoiding the fall into rigid parameters (Frenken, 2007).

Novel technologies also present elements embedded in complexity in the sense that its emergence is a result of a non-linear and interactive process that is adaptive and unpredictable, and it coevolves, while also influencing, and being influenced by other actors in a shared environment, including multiple stakeholders with varying needs (Poutanen et al, 2015).

On the other hand, uncertainty becomes enhanced by considering that in complex systems, it is not possible to establish accurate predictions, and that complexity comprehends a high variety of intervening variables and feedback loops that do not allow the understanding or prediction of the system's behavior (Aven, 2019). Here is where uncertainty also becomes an issue, as it cannot be easily measurable in terms of probabilities along the whole innovation chain (Government Office for Science, 2014).

There is risk related to these systems, as the consequences of the activities generated by the systems are uncertain. Moreover, these systems are often considered to be complex (Jensen & Aven, 2018).

A main problem is the lack of linearity in complex systems. This means that a prediction model is established, but it is not accurate, as complex systems do not allow such simple modeling. Accidents may occur in surprising ways not captured by the models. Nonlinearity means that the "causal links" of the system form something more complicated than a single chain, for example feedback loops (Jensen & Aven; MacKay, 2008).

2.6.5 Coping with Uncertainty and Complexity Related to Innovation

Considering the risks related to complexity and uncertainties embedded in novel technologies, one method used to mitigate the uncertain and negative effects of new technological innovations, is to evaluate them according to the precautionary principle. However, the very complexity that makes the precautionary principle desirable also makes it contentious and hard to define. Complex systems are filled with uncertainty, and no amount of precaution will eliminate all risks (Newman, 2005).

If too much protection is sought, innovations may be prevented or hindered; On the other hand, if there is too little protection, unpleasant surprises may be experienced. Therefore, the question of 'how safe is safe enough', is replaced by 'how much uncertainty and ignorance the main actors are willing to accept in exchange for some given benefit' (Renn & Rocco, 2006).

When it comes to protection, the concept becomes supported by the cautionary and precautionary principles. On the other hand, sustainable innovation can be addressed in relation to development, which is promoted by cost-benefit type of analysis. Yet, the

principle does not provide precise guidance on when it is applicable, leading to inconsistencies when used as a decision rule (Aven, 2019; Peterson, 2006; Stefánsson, 2019).

However, and by highlighting the risks related to complexity and uncertainty in relation to innovation, there will always be some costs associated to its implementation. Nevertheless, risk is not the main driver for the realization of the activity, and its rather something related to the activity that needs to be taken into account when making decisions, considering that generating benefits and value requires a certain degree of risk taking, as it is in the case of the implementation if sustainable innovation directed to mitigate climate change and its ripple effects (Aven, 2019).

Therefore, and by taking into account that risk is not the main driver for carrying out an activity, and that the protection based in the precautionary principle does not seem to suffice, risk assessments are needed in order to inform decision makers. Though, these assessments may fall short in covering all the concerns associated with the risk source, and do not address the resolution of conflicting values and the required trade-offs (Idem). Thus, there is a need for the decision-makers to go beyond the risk assessment to account properly for risk and uncertainties, as well as attributes and values not considered by the assessment (Aven, 2019; Edwards & von Winterfeldt, 1987; Aven, 2016).

Although for conventional and non-complex risk situations the risk assessments can prove useful, when it comes to particularly complex situations with trade-offs between them, a broader set of multi-level characteristics is required (Aven, 2019).

Yet, in the face of uncertainty and complexity, the need for strategies that highlight protection based on the cautionary and precautionary principles, are still not acknowledged, and in consequence, the focus on risk governance becomes considered as essential (Aven, 2019).

In several cases the governance of risks may involve precaution in the sense of flexible strategy, enabling the learning from restricted errors, new knowledge, and visible effects, so that adaption, reversal, or adjustment of measures becomes possible (van Asselt & Renn, 2011).

In addition, Van Asselt & van Bree (2011), argue that in the context of risk, governance principles also embody a normative ideal. Therefore, risk governance refers to a body of

ideas of how to deal with uncertain, complex and/or ambiguous risks more adequately and responsibly, ideas that should also be merged with the functionality approach proposed by Renn (2012).

Yet, and as discussed in Aven (2011) in regards to measures for tackling wicked problems, risk governance may also preset deficits that can be particularly harmful to the development of new technologies, where they can lead to an overcrowding of innovation or to unintended consequences. Thus, the decision-maker's capacity to respond to unexpected events, will depend on their flexibility and adaptability, such as their authority or willingness to reallocate resources when required, allowing the emergence of alternatives in the face of unexpected circumstances.

Furthermore, and as for tackling wicked problems, coping with uncertainty and complexity in relation to sustainable innovation, requires a dynamic process of continuous, flexible, and gradual learning and adjustment that allows a careful handling of complexity, and uncertainty, instead of treating the risk as if it was simple. This should also include a broad variety of means and mechanisms by which risks can be handled collectively in an integrative way. In practical terms, flexible and integrative capacity, should respond to the ability to design and incorporate the necessary steps in the risk governance process, to allow decision-makers to reduce, mitigate, or control the occurrence of harmful outcomes in an effective, efficient, and responsible manner (Klinke & Renn, 2011; Brooks & Adger, 2005). The adaptive and integrative elements embedded in the process, requires the capacity to learn from previous or similar risk-handling experiences to cope with current risk problems and apply these lessons to cope with future potential risk problems and surprises (Klinke & Renn, 2011).

CHAPTER 3 RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY

Complex, ambiguous, and uncertain risk problems cannot be tackled through simple risk approaches, since, as argued by Peters (2017), the relationship among variables is non-linear and minimal changes in starting conditions can cause extreme different outcomes. This is a feature that makes wicked problems especially difficult to solve, considering also that the proposed solutions aimed to tackle these issues, may carry the risk of creating new complex, ambiguous and uncertain wicked problems (Sun & Yang, 2016).

Therefore, to help tackle and mitigate the adverse effects related to complexity, ambiguity and uncertainty of the wicked problem of climate change and sustainability, different systematic approaches to risk governance are proposed, to validate and justify the emergence and implementation of technological sustainable innovations as risk-superior alternatives.

3.1 Problem Statement

Climate change can be understood as one of the most important and urgent problems of the 21st century, issue that affects and is affected by soil degradation and desertification among other factors, through a circular feedback (Sun & Yang, 2016; Lal, 2012).

It is because of this that land degradation has become also one of the most severe problems that humanity and the environment are currently facing on a global scale, problem that represents huge impacts on both the land and landscape, due to the impediment of plant growth (Kertész, 2009). In addition to plant growth, soil health is essential for the integrity of terrestrial ecosystems to remain intact or to recover from disturbances, such as drought, water scarcity, climate change and global warming, pest infestation, pollution, and human exploitation (Neiendam & Winding, 2002; Ellert et al. 1997), together with food safety and quality (Neiendam & Winding, 2002; Halvorson et al. 1997; Parr et al. 1992).

Therefore, and by considering the high variety of elements contributing to desertification and soil degradation, in addition to the circular feedback that occurs with climate change, these wicked issues fall in the categorization of systemic risks, being multi-causal, and encircled by complexity, ambiguity and uncertainty (Klinke & Renn 2002; Renn 2008). Nevertheless, and by contemplating the wicked nature of these issues, it is of high relevance to take into account that any attempt and proposed solution directed to help mitigating a wicked problem,

may carry with it the risk of creating new problems that may also be wicked, complex, ambiguous and surrounded by high uncertainty (Sun & Yang, 2016), leading to a dynamic in which too much protection, could lead to the prevention and hindering of innovations with the capabilities or the potential for tackling issues related to climate (Renn & Rocco, 2006).

3.2 Research Questions

The following research questions are directed to help support arbitrage among contested concepts embedded in wicked problems and wicked solutions, by generating consensus and improving the proposed solutions through the application of risk science approaches.

- How can risk science support sustainable technological innovation for tackling wicked problems?
- 2) How can the approach to sustainable technological innovation be improved to deal with wicked problems?

3.3 Methodology

The methodology utilized throughout this research, is based on a qualitative approach, in which primary and secondary sources were reviewed and analyzed, in order to generate a better understanding in relation to the systemic risks embedded in the wicked problem of climate change, which is framed in elements of complexity, ambiguity and uncertainty. For this issue, risk-based approaches to support and validate the role of sustainable development and sustainable technological innovations, are suggested to help mitigating the adverse effects of climate change, while also contributing to a clearer picture on how to better deal with complexity, uncertainty, and ambiguity of the problems and the potential solutions. Thus, and by considering the systematic characteristics of wicked problems, and the limitations of traditional risk analysis, the results of this research will be supported by the analysis of the case study of Desert Control, an innovative Climate Technology company, which aims to reverse and stop desertification and soil degradation, by turning degraded land and soil into fertile land through the application of Liquid Natural Clay.

3.4 Case Study

The case study utilized for this thesis, is based on a single organization, which corresponds to Desert Control, a climate technology company based in Stavanger, Norway. The case study will be utilized to obtain empirical data on how to deal with complexity, ambiguity, and uncertainty in the face of wicked problems, in a real-life context. It will also be used to test and support some of the theoretical claims and solutions presented and reviewed in *chapter 2*. This will also help address outcomes whose direct and indirect implications are too complex for theorizing. Finally, the case study will also help verifying the hypothesis that *"The wicked nature and elements of climate change and sustainability, can be mitigated through the implementation of technological sustainable innovations, that are improved by the integration of different elements obtained from systematic risk-based approaches, in order to support responsible decision-making capable of coping with complexity, ambiguity, and uncertainty".*

The data was collected from both primary and secondary sources. The data collection for primary sources, was based on digital and in-depth pilot interviews directed to members of the team of Desert Control. The pilot interview is based on 6 main questions with subquestions and aims to understand how Desert Control has dealt and deals with complexity, uncertainty, and ambiguity related to the wicked problem of climate change, through different perspectives and in praxis. The analysis of the answers is carried out based on the literature review, comparing the different solution alternatives provided by the academia, with the processes and results carried and obtained by Desert Control, highlighting aspects related to complexity and wicked problems, related to desertification and soil degradation, and adding other recommendations that were not touched upon on *chapter 2*.

In terms of the collection of data through secondary sources, these will consist of different conferences, press releases and articles issued by the company, and third parties. Because of the diversity of the sources, the topics to be studied and addressed, will be the same as the ones obtained through the primary sources while taking into account the importance of different systematic risk governance-based elements that can be found and applied. Other recommendations obtained from these sources for dealing with wicked problems related to climate change will also be considered.

3.5 Desert Control

Desert Control is a climate tech company that is presented as one of the solution alternatives for helping to mitigate the effects related to climate change and global warming.

The company was chosen as a case study, as they have developed a sustainable innovation technology, that has competitive advantages in the market against other products with the same objective, and that has shown visible results in combating the problems of desertification and soil degradation, while also addressing and impacting on other complex issues related to climate change, such as reducing water consumption and issues related to water scarcity, as well as reducing fertilizer usage.

The vision of the company is to make the earth green again, by stopping and reversing desertification and soil degradation, and turning degraded land and sand into fertile soil, while reducing the water usage for green ecosystems up to a 50%.

This is achieved through a product built on 12 years of R&D, called Liquid Natural Clay (LNC), proved and validated by independent third-party organizations to reduce water consumption up to 50% and increase crops yields up to 62%.

3.6 Research Limitations

Climate change, global warming, and the rising of CO2 levels, have harmful effects on multiple levels of biological organizations, covering a wide range of impacts on individuals and ecosystems (Woodward et al, 2010). Therefore, and by considering that this represents a multi-level issue on different scales, this research study is limited to address the problems related to desertification and soil degradation, as a ripple effect and a wicked outcome of climate change. Other effects of climate change will also be addressed, but not covered in depth, due to the complexity of these issues.

On the other hand, the case study is limited to a single organization directed to stop desertification and soil degradation through the application of a sustainable technological product (LNC), but other novel technological alternatives will not be covered. Yet, relevant remarks taken from the development of LNC will be accounted for and merged with risk-based approaches to help improve the development and implementation of future technologies, directed to mitigate the effects of climate change.

Finally, the study is limited to address the role of technological sustainable innovations as a tool for mitigating the effects of climate change, together with some of the effects this may have on other levels. Yet, and although other relevant alternatives and roles are mentioned, they will not be further studied.

CHAPTER 4 RESULTS

This research study has shown that wicked problems related to climate change are global, transboundary, and multi-level issues, embedded in complexity, ambiguity, and uncertainty. These elements, characteristics and features make wicked problems and their effects extremely challenging to address, mitigate or solve. It is also because of these characteristics, that the solution alternatives become contested and ambiguous, and their related uncertainties are enhanced due to lack of knowledge on their potential outcomes. In addition, simple and traditional models have been proven to have limited capacity when it comes to predicting effects of novel technologies, due to the non-linearity related to the causes and effects of these problems, and the potential outcomes of novel solution alternatives. It has also been demonstrated that wicked problems related to climate change characterized by non-linearity and complexity, cannot be dealt with by applying simple and traditional solutions.

It is because of the characteristics and features of the issues at stake that the concept of technological sustainable innovations was suggested, to help mitigating some of the effects related to climate change, while also contributing to sustainable development in praxis. Yet, this study has also shown that the novel characteristics of technological innovations, make them uncertain and ambiguous, due knowledge gaps related to their potential risks. It is because of this knowledge gaps and the state of the art related to sustainable technological innovations, that this study proposed different approaches to improve these solution alternatives directed to tackle the effects related to the wicked problem of climate change.

These approaches were obtained after carrying out two in-depth pilot interviews and obtaining relevant data from other various secondary sources related to Desert Control, which provided factual examples of arbitrage and agreement in relation on how to cope with complexity, ambiguity and uncertainty, as well as the adverse effects and risks related to the effects of climate change, through the implementation of a sustainable technological innovation product.

In the case of the pilot interviews, the data yielded shed light on shared agreement from the interviewees, regarding the practicality of the application of the following elements, related to the literature reviewed:

- a) Recognition of climate change, desertification, and soil degradation as a wicked problem.
- b) The importance of combining normative ideals and functionality for the development of sustainable technologies.
- c) The critical role that cooperation among different actors through a multi-level perspective has, in the face of wicked problems related to climate change.
- Acknowledgement that there will always be risks related to the development of novel technologies, but that these risks can be mitigated through gradual and consistent learning.
- e) Relevance in understanding and identifying global and local perspectives and needs.

By following the inputs obtained by Desert Control and the literature reviewed, and in carrying a systematic content analysis, the following lessons related to the development and implementation of the product were found, for improving the approach to sustainable innovation technologies:

- a) A knowledge-based strategy should be applied since complexity cannot be coped through the application of simple and rigid traditional solution methods. A knowledge-based strategy would reduce knowledge gaps through continuous and gradual learning and adjustments, while increasing capabilities for handling complexity, and reducing uncertainties.
- b) A *flexible approach to risk governance* should be immersed in an extensive R&D process for developing technological innovation measures, to allow for gradual learning and adjustments, so the capacity for adaptability related to the implementation of a technology becomes possible. Having the ability to adapt measures, can help reducing countervailing risks, and increase the resilience of the risk targets.
- c) Strengthen cooperation among different actors, through novel approaches of adaptive-thinking and collaboration. Since the issues at stake are dynamic, prone to extreme variations in their potential outcomes, multi-level and complex, no single actor has the capabilities for dealing with transboundary issues of wicked nature, and

therefore collaboration should be strengthened. This way, complex problems can be addressed through different scopes supported by cooperation, to reduce ambiguities and complexity.

- d) *Application of a multi-level perspective approach* to simplify the analysis and addressing of complex and transboundary issues and validate the development and implementation of novel sustainable technologies.
- e) Decision-making supported by approaches to risk governance, and agreed outputs obtained from different stakeholders after collaborative instances for selecting risk-superior alternatives.
- f) *Implementation of constructive and sustainable interventions in the environment*, to make it resourceful and resilient

On the other hand, and in terms of supporting the development and implementation of sustainable technological innovations for tackling wicked problems, this thesis has explored the following risk governance-based approaches that can help improve the creation and implementation of novel technological measures:

- a) *Application of systematic risk-governance elements* that create capabilities for generating flexible and adaptable approaches for the decision-making process, to allow for the adjustment of measures, in order to deal with complex, uncertain and ambiguous risks more adequately and responsibly, while also allowing the creation of alternatives or new courses of action if necessary.
- b) Acknowledge that the generation of benefits and value includes a certain degree of risk taking. Therefore, risk should not be the main driver for carrying out the emergence of technological alternatives, but rather a tool to improve their development and performance, and for supporting decision-making and arbitrage in the face of complex wicked issues.
- c) *Application of precaution involved in risk governance principles*, that allows a flexible strategy that consents adaptation, or adjustment of measures.
- d) *Inclusion of means and mechanisms to handle risk collectively in an integrative way*, enhancing cooperation and collaboration.

Nevertheless, the wicked problem of climate change has been demonstrated to be too much of a big issue, with too many wicked ripple effects. Therefore, the implementation of improved sustainable technological innovations does not suffice to mitigate the whole implications of the problem. However, they can be part of the solution by materializing positive impacts and by generating arbitrage regarding different visions and values. Henceforth, other macro and micro measures should be incentivized, developed, and applied.

CHAPTER 5 CASE STUDY: ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION

Wicked problems are extremely difficult to solve, due to their complexity, ambiguity, and uncertainty. Additionally, the potential solutions seem ambiguous in their conceptual base, as it happens with sustainability and sustainable development, issue that creates more complexity, ambiguity, and uncertainty. Yet, in the face of the problem of climate change, failure to take action will overload the atmosphere's absorptive capacity, enhance global warming and lead to more complex and wicked issues in the future, since slight changes in the initial conditions, may produce significant deviations in the potential outcomes, due to the non-linearity of these problems (Peters, 2017; Altenburg & Pegels, 2012). Therefore, the main question is related to which actions and measures can be taken before major crises related to environmental degradation occur, or whether risk mitigating actions will be taken only under the pressure of critical crises and at a higher cost (Altenburg & Pegels, 2012).

5.1 Liquid Natural Clay (LNC)

Liquid Natural Clay (LNC) is created when water and clay are formulated and processed into a liquid compound, nearly as thin as water. This formulation process is done on the site where is required, and the LNC is spread onto sandy soil using traditional irrigation systems. The liquid percolates down the sandy soils, forming a soil structure with the capacity of retaining water, giving the sand particles a nanostructured clay coating. This process changes the physical qualities of the sand particles, allowing them to bind water and turn poor quality sandy soil into high yield soil, increasing water and plant nutrient holding capacity, while also reducing water loss due to evaporation. In addition, LNC functions as a catalyst for the symbiosis of Mycorrhizal fungi between plants, fertilizers, water, and the air in the soil, improving the plant uptake of nutrients (Olesen & Julseth, 2015).

Besides, and according to the International Center for Biosalin Agriculture's results from August 2019 and September 2020, with the application of LNC, water and fertilizers are saved in an average range between a 20% and a 50%, crop yields are increased between a 17% and a 62%, and soil is improved, which also helps improving biodiversity and carbon uptake (Desert Control, 2021).

LNC is expected to play a highly relevant role for sustainable development by addressing at least 13 of the 17 United Nations SDG's, directly and indirectly (Idem).

5.2 Discussion: Dealing with Wicked Problems Through Global Solutions and Local Implementation

Throughout this study, it has been shown that climate change and its effects can be conceptualized as a wicked problem, framed in complexity, and embedded in ambiguity and uncertainty. It has also been argued that the proposed solutions related to sustainability and sustainable development, can be framed as wicked problems too, due to its intrinsic normativity (Schmieg et al, 2018), that leads to ambiguity, which, in addition to the existence of multiple stakeholders and their multiple visions and values, enhance the lack of arbitrage in regards to objectives of sustainable agendas and how to achieve them, strengthening the ambiguity. On the other hand, the wicked nature of sustainability and sustainable development, is also a consequence of the dynamic nature of multiple stakeholders and systems involved, that in addition to the non-linearity of complex issues, makes extremely difficult to predict the potential outcomes of sustainable interventions (Beg et al, 2002; Brønn & Simcic, 2018).

Moreover, technological innovations are also raised as another potential solution that may play a critical role in the process of dealing with wicked problems related to climate change (United Nations, 2020). Nevertheless, and as it happens with the concepts of sustainability and sustainable development, technological innovations have also been argued to be flawed due to their complexity, uncertainty and ambiguity embedded in their novel nature, in addition to the knowledge gaps regarding potential and unknown risks (Temel & Durst, 2020; Henschel and Durst, 2016).

Therefore, and by considering the risks posed by wicked problems related to climate change, the wicked nature of sustainability, and the complexity and uncertainty related to technological innovation, different authors proposed a variety potential solutions to overcome these challenges in *chapter 2*, solutions that will be addressed and be analyzed by applying them in praxis through the work done by Desert Control, and their LNC.

5.3 Desert Control and LNC: Materializing the Role of Technological Sustainable Innovations

Before the development of LNC, the solution alternative was based on shoveling clay into the ground. For this process, approximately a 100 kg of clay per square meter was needed to be placed in depth, to be able to make that piece of land fertile and resourceful. Yet, that practice was extremely complex to carry on, also including the risk of being very intrusive and disruptive. However, this was the best-known alternative for treating degraded and sandy soil. Though, this process was not cost-efficient, due to its complexity of application and its high price, which lead to banning the practice (Olesen, 2016). It was due to these issues related to the 'solution', that Kristian Olesen and Ole Morten Olesen, found a particular way to mix water and clay, creating LNC, a product that only required 1kg of clay per square meter, and only 1/3 of the water that was used for the same purpose with the previous practice. LNC after its application, started showing extreme results, by increasing what could be taken out of the soil (Idem).

In this case, and based on the arguments provided by Zijp et al (2016), the development and creation of LNC, was presented as a novel alternative for providing a solution in the face of an activity that was previously banned, based on single and simple metrics, such as methods of application and cost-efficiency. Yet, with LNC, the same activity was stimulated after an innovation process, while also accounting for its potential for tackling part of the wicked problem of soil degradation, along with contributing to sustainable development. Nonetheless, how does sustainable development become materialized?

Considering the critics related to sustainability and sustainable development, and its intrinsic normativity, Renn et al (2009), suggested that these concepts should be marked through a combination of a normative-functional understanding of societal development, to prevent the excessive application of just normative or functional elements (Renn, 2012). In the case of Desert Control, this becomes a reality reflected on the impacts that LNC has on the soil, and other relevant aspects after its application. According to the lead soil scientist from Desert Control, Orn Supaphol (2021), LNC is a sustainable product that combines normativity and functionality, through short, medium and long term objectives joint with a learning process in regards to the development and improvement of the technology, that after its application, materializes sustainability on its results and main impacts, such as re-greening degraded soil, helping carbon capture naturally, reducing water losses, and re-foresting. Therefore, LNC can also be considered as a systematic multi -level solution because it deals with other issues related to wicked problems on different levels. As an example of this, after the application of

LNC, the problem of water scarcity is addressed since there is an average water savings between the range of 20% and 50% (Idland, 2021). Having the potential for tackling issues on a multi-level can also help creating and explaining a sustainable transition process, which is seen with the results provided by LNC, that contributes also to the creation of jobs, food production through crop yields, and energy production by turning part of the new bio mass into bio oil. This has also the potential to boost initiatives for creating emerging technologies directed to the development of green energy, that can be used to produce drinkable water in countries where desalination processes are used for providing water for the population. This has particular significance for locations in which the desalination of water is a vital process for ensuring drinkable and potable water for the population, which represents a highly polluting process, that while being a solution, is also a problem that contributes to the vicious wickedness of global warming and climate change (Olesen, 2018).

Going back to the critics related to sustainability and sustainable development, it was argued that the high variety of stakeholder involvement, with their multiple interests and different visions, created more ambiguity and enhanced the complexity of the process for finding adequate solution alternatives. Therefore, systematic approaches to risk governance where suggested to deal with these issues. On the first place, Ward (2003) proposed that a way to deal with the problem of ambiguity and conflicting values in the face of wicked problems, was through cooperation among actors, as no single actor has capabilities to fully address the complex issues related to climate change, on its different levels. Cooperation was argued to be of high relevance when it could be addressed through a multi-level perspective, in which joint goals and common strategies could be formulated, to acknowledge and govern risks and uncertainties.

In the case of Desert Control, and in relation to their view and acknowledgement of wicked problems, the company has recognized that cooperation is a crucial element for dealing with complexity related to climate change. According to their Chief Technical Advisor, Hege Kverneland (2021), cooperation among different actors is one of the most important elements for contributing to the mitigation of the problem of soil degradation and desertification. In addition, Supahpol (2021), also recognizes that cooperation among actors is of critical nature, since the problem of climate change, desertification, and soil degradation, are transboundary

and global. To understand the importance of global and transboundary solutions, and as an example, according to the United Nations (2021), Norway is not affected by drought or desertification, and therefore, Desert Control has no "home" market. However, the market for LNC and the demand for the product is outside of Norway. This is because the wickedness of climate change and its effects, are global, and the creation of wicked problems, can symptom of another wicked problem (Rittel & Webber, 1973). Thus, having a Norwegian company with no local market, but with a global role, plays a relevant part in acknowledging the importance of the issues at stake, while reinforcing or promoting cooperation among actors on different levels and locations. Nevertheless, cooperation finds some barriers that become materialized for the company in terms of convincing potential customers that LNC works, process that is time consuming because it is very dependent on the time that the crops take to grow to show visible results (Kverneland, 2021). This also has relation with the challenges suggested by Altenburg & Pegels (2012) related to sustainability-oriented innovation in terms of its attempts to try and disrupt firmly established, but environmentally unsustainable trajectories.

In addition to cooperation, Renn (2012) argues that the future of humanity depends on the preservation of the anthropogenic ecosystems, for humans to thrive, needing constant and constructive interventions to make the environment a productive resource, interventions that this study has presented as sustainable technological innovations. Following this argument, LNC can be considered as a product that helps preserving and improving the anthropogenic ecosystem, due to its main features, and especially when compared to other alternatives with the same purpose, such as manually shoveling clay into the ground. These alternatives are very cumbersome to use, while also being intrusive and disruptive, requiring in many cases the removal of the existent vegetation, while LNC process of appliance is easy and non-intrusive (Sivertsen, 2021; Supaphol, 2021). Intervening aggressively in the soil includes an environmental cost, as sequestered carbon becomes exposed to oxygen and it is lost into the atmosphere as carbon dioxide (Sohi, 2021).

According Ole Kristian Sivertsen, Desert Control's CEO (2021), LNC also makes the environment a productive resource, having an impact on water savings, and how resources are efficiently used. On the other hand, and as a result, the application of LNC has proven to increase the growth of watermelons on a 17%, zucchini on a 30%, and 62% on pearl millets,

therefore turning untreated/degraded land into a more efficient resource (Idland, 2021). Yet, according to Supaphol (2021), intervening is not enough, and therefore preserving the anthropogenic ecosystem, will also depend on a learning process, and a socio-cultural change, in which individuals on different levels become aware and acknowledge the implications and adverse effects related to climate change, and the actions they can perform to contribute to its mitigation. Nevertheless, and in terms of the problem of desertification and soil degradation, this is an issue that is only visible and known depending of the location, making awareness more complicated. As previously stated, and using Norway as an example, the country is not affected by drought or desertification, and therefore the problem may not be widely visible. Thus, according to Kverneland (2021), desertification is seen and known in locations where Desert Control operates, such as Dubai, where the problem of desertification and water scarcity is seen and felt by the people, problem that is also felt in terms of water scarcity, and reflected in the process for water desalinization, through a very polluting method (Olesen, 2018). Therefore, LNC can also be acknowledged as a risksuperior alternative, since it has direct positive impacts in the target risk and has potential to reduce harmful outcomes related to other risk sources.

However, to achieve a risk -superior alternative, countervailing risks should be evaluated beforehand against the target risk, to support decision-making that aims for the most optimal course of action. As argued by Graham & Wiener (1995), this requires risk tradeoffs, which involve as a generic problem, the generation of unintended consequences or side effects, and unless decision-makers consider the possible outcomes, a systematic emergence of risk tradeoffs will occur.

Considering the risk tradeoffs, and the search for risk superior alternatives, it is also important to take into account the uncertainties and ambiguous elements related to the novel characteristics of emerging sustainable technologies, that also may lead to the lack of knowledge regarding their potential risks, in addition to the uncertainties related to their capacity of achieving the desired outcomes (Temel & Durst; 2020; Henschel & Durst, 2016; Roper & Tapinos, 2016; Menon et al., 2002). Nevertheless, as argued by Aven (2019), there will always be risks related to complexity and uncertainty associated with the implementation of technologically innovative measures, and therefore, risk should not be main driver for the

realization of the activity, but it should be taken into account when making decisions, considering that generating benefits requires of a certain degree of risk taking. Is in these cases that, according to van Asselt and Renn (2011), the governance of risks should involve flexible strategies capable of enabling learning from restricted errors, as well as new knowledge, and visible effects, so that adaption, reversal, or adjustment of the implemented measures become possible.

Therefore, when taking these elements and suggestions into praxis, and by addressing the case of LNC development, it is possible to see that its creation process, was based on 12 years of R&D. The reason for this is because of the different properties of the soils, clay, and plants. Thus, custom mixes should be applied in accordance to the different local contexts; too little clay applied may have almost no impact. Too much, and a waterproof crust can be formed on the surface of the sand or making compaction more likely (Sivertsen, 2021). Hence, the process for finding a risk-superior alternative and for reducing the lack of knowledge on potential risks related to novel technologies, should be supported by a knowledge-based strategy. In the case of LNC, this approach was applied to understand that each type of clay has unique properties, different types of soils require custom liquid compositions, and different plants have different preferences. This knowledge and continuous learning also made the product prone for scalability (Desert Control, 2021). This knowledge based strategy, together with the pursue for a risk-superior alternative, also goes in line with what was suggested by Klinke & Renn, (2011) and Brooks & Adger (2005), in relation to tackling wicked problems through sustainable innovation, and the requirement for a process that allows continuous and gradual learning and adjustments capable of handling complexity, and uncertainty, in addition to the inclusion of relevant elements from the risk governance process, to mitigate the potential occurrence of harmful outcomes in an effective, efficient, and responsible manner.

Another aspect that makes LNC a risk-superior alternative, is the fact that the product has no competitors, although there are other alternatives with the same purpose in the market. This is because the LNC process of application is easy and non-intrusive, unlike other alternatives (Sivertsen, 2019).

It is of high importance to also consider that, as argued by Van Asselt & van Bree (2011), in the context of risk, governance embodies a normative ideal on how to deal with complexity. Therefore, and by considering that climate change is a wicked problem with negative effects on multiple levels and aspects, the handling of it is driven by normative ideas, that can be seen through the globally negotiated normative agenda expressed in the 17 SDGs and the compliance with them (Schneider et al, 2019).

For the case of Desert Control (n.d.), the handling of complexity in relation to these normative ideas, becomes materialized and functional through the impact the company has on some of these SDGs goals, both directly and indirectly. According to Desert Control (n.d.), the advantages of treating soil with LNC are directly linked to goals 2, 9, 13 and 15. Goal 2, corresponds to Zero Hunger, and is impacted by allowing for areas previously considered as unsustainable for farming, to be used for growing food crops. This is followed by goal 9 of Industry, Innovation, and Infrastructure, for which building of resilient infrastructure, promotes inclusive and sustainable industrialization that can foster innovation. Therefore, LNC represents an innovation with the potential to expand industries into new areas, that may require new infrastructure, such as the creation of other green technologies. Finally, LNC impacts on goals 13 and 15, related to Climate Action and Life in Land. LNC allows plants to grow in areas that before being treated, lacked enough water to sustain life. Treated soil allows plants to thrive, while also reducing the amounts of water consumed, allowing for deserts to be reclaimed through the smart use of water resources. This also reduces CO2 emissions by 15-25 tons per hectare. In addition, a layer of LNC prevents fertilizers from running through the soil and polluting under-laying soil and water table. Finally, by replacing sand with plants, the surface temperature can be reduced by up to 15° C.

LNC has positive impacts on different levels, which, may help tackle wicked problems since, as suggested by Head (2018), and Verweij &Thompson (2006), these kind of complex issues need to be approached on different levels, while using a wide using a range of instruments, since there is no 'one best solution'. Nevertheless, according to Kverneland (2021), and in regards to LNC and its role, the product does not mitigate climate change nor global warming as a whole, because of their wicked and global characteristics, and because they are too much

of a big issue for being tackled through just one alternative. Yet, LNC is part of the solution for the problems that have been addressed, having the capabilities to impact on different aspects on multiple levels.

5.4 Improving Management of Wicked Problems Through Risk Science

The main objective of this research study, was to explore through systematic risk-based approaches, that wicked problems related to climate change, and ill formulated solutions, such as sustainability and sustainable development, can be mitigated through the implementation of technological sustainable innovation measures, that are improved and supported by the inclusion of systematic risk governance based- approaches.

Yet, the complexity, uncertainty and ambiguity of wicked problems related to climate change, have been demonstrated to be a huge global and multi-level issue, unlikely to be resolved or mitigated through actions of a single actor or single actors working independently, or single and simple solutions, due to the different levels and dynamics on which these negative impacts and risks are found.

Nevertheless, the case of Desert Control and LNC, has proven that issues of wicked nature, can be addressed and tackled to some extent, through sustainable technological innovation, that is supported and improved by extensive R&D processes capable of addressing and reducing the risks related to the complexity and uncertainty embedded in novel technologies and their implementation. In addition to the R&D process, and based on the data collected, systematic risk governance principles can also help improving the characteristics of technological innovations, while mitigating adverse effects and ensuring some degree of sustainable development, that becomes materialized on different levels of positive impacts that are found in normative ideals and ideas. Thus, it has been demonstrated that climate change represents an enormous challenge with global implications and transboundary effects, and therefore the implementation of one technology, is not enough to mitigate climate change as a whole, but it can be part of the solution, once certain elements taken from risk governance approaches and knowledge based strategies are applied, in order to avoid flaws or potential harmful outcomes. However, and although it has been shown that technologies such as LNC impact positively in the environment, having also potential for creating positive economic

impacts for the areas where the soil is treated, it is still a single solution addressing just part of a bigger issue, and in consequence, the need for efficient and inclusive cooperation, among other initiatives that create incentives for mitigating these issues, are crucial. Nevertheless, cooperation and approval for usage of a technological innovation product finds some barriers when costumers or target groups present a certain degree of skepticism on the qualities and potential effects that the technology may present, delaying the process of application and the disruption of environmentally unsustainable trajectories, especially when the effects of the technology are conditioned by time. Yet, as suggested by Head & Alford (2015), issues related to cooperation can be dealt with by introducing novel approaches of collaboration and adaptive-thinking to account for problems through several perspectives, including complexity, ambiguity, and uncertainties of wicked risk problems, while at the same time, strengthening the collaborative capacities.

However, when it comes to developing and implementing novel technologies for mitigating wicked problems related to climate change, there will always be risk associated to this activities, that are enhanced by the complexity, uncertainty and ambiguity of the issues, and therefore risk should not be the main driver for carrying out an activity, or for developing novel technologies for climate action, since, the generation of benefits includes a certain degree of risk taking (Aven, 2019). Based on this, and by taking Desert Control as an example, the extensive process of R&D raises again as a process of crucial importance, together with a knowledge based strategy, and risk handling strategies based on learning from errors, and with the capability of creating new knowledge, and visible effects, so that adaption, reversal, or adjustment of measures becomes possible (van Asselt & Renn, 2011).

Nevertheless, the development of other sustainable technologies and alternatives should be boosted, since, as it has been mentioned, the capabilities of single actors are limited when dealing with the wicked nature of climate change, and therefore high importance should be given to a multi-level perspective in order to be able to address its issues through different dynamics, levels and visions on cooperative instances, in order to keep global warming below 2°C and ensure a certain degree of sustainable development beyond a normative ideal.

Complex problems of wicked nature are not easy to solve due to lack of linearity, the high variety of stakeholders and actors with different interest involved and the dynamics of their

interactions, global nature of the issues, and conflicting visions on how problems can be tackled and mitigated.

In the face of these issues, the case study of Desert Control has shown relevant remarks in regards on how to deal with them, starting by materializing and arbitraging normative objectives, in order to reduce their ambiguities and uncertainties, and turn them into feasible, positive, and responsible impacts, that are visible through their compliance with some of the 17 SDG's. On the other hand, lessons related to the development process of LNC can be extrapolated to improve the development of other technologies which are looking to address complex problems related to climate change on different levels, while also reducing their adverse effects. For an improved achievement of these objectives, and for the better management and mitigation of wicked problems, this research has proposed that the development of novel technologies, should be based and supported by gradual knowledge based strategies that are merged with systematic governance of risks, in order to achieve, flexibility, adaptability, and integrative solutions, capable of avoiding inefficient and harmful actions, and achieve risk superior alternatives, that can contribute to sustainable development, by reducing vulnerabilities and increasing the resilience of the risk targets.

Yet, and as stated by Beg et al (2012) the uncertainties related to the rate of climate change raise questions about whether a sustainable transition can happen fast enough to make a difference, and therefore, isolated actions of single actors and simple solutions may not have the needed capabilities for mitigating this issues to a relevant extent. Henceforth, and according to Kverneland (2021), the development of sustainable technological innovations should be combined with the acknowledgement of complexity, and the role of industries, governance, and governments, to make a sustainable transition conceivable. This could be achieved through initiatives such as fees on CO2 emissions, financial initiatives to support the development of responsible novel technologies and by effectively communicating the implications of climate change, to generate awareness and modify some unsustainable socio-cultural behaviors.

CHAPTER 6 CONCLUSIONS

Climate change has been presented as one of the biggest and urgent challenges of the 21st century. Its wicked nature enhances the creation of other severe wicked problems that have adverse effects and impacts for the environment, ecosystems, biodiversity, and humanity. Moreover, the wickedness of the problems and its elements framed in complexity, ambiguity, and uncertainty, makes them extremely difficult to address and find solution alternatives to mitigate them, while avoiding the creation of additional countervailing risks or other unexpected, inefficient or harmful effects.

This is why, in order to reduce ambiguities and uncertainties, this study suggested that it is crucial to generate arbitrage based on multi -level cooperation and adaptive-thinking, in regards to the scopes of wicked problems, as well as for the contested concepts linked to the potential solutions. The generation of arbitrage can improve the approach to sustainability and sustainable development through responsible, efficient, and impactful decision-making, while reducing the ambiguities related to the normativity of these concepts and materializing normative ideals into impacts.

On the other hand, sustainable technological innovations, were presented as a novel alternative to help mitigate the wicked nature of climate change, when the development and implementation of these technologies is improved by the integration of different systematic elements of risk governance. Yet, it is concluded that, although the inclusion of systematic risk-based approaches can support decision-making for the better development and implementation of technological measures, capable of coping with complexity, ambiguity and uncertainty, these alternatives do not suffice when attempting to mitigate the wide variety of problems that climate change generates. This is due to the transboundary and global implications of the issues at stake, as well as their complex nature. Nevertheless, improved technological innovations are part of the solution, by having direct impact in specific target risks and by contributing to sustainable development. Henceforth the incentivizing of micro and macro socio-cultural changes is suggested after achieving agreements in collaborative instances, on national and local levels, to reduce ambiguities and to generate arbitrage regarding different visions, perspectives, and values, related to climate change.

REFERENCES

Abrahamsen, E., Moharamzadeh, A., Abrahamsen, H. B., Asche, F., Heide, B., & Milazzo, M. F. (2018). Are Too Many Safety Measures Crowding Each Other Out? Retrieved May 12, 2020, from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0951832018301339

Altenburg, T. & Pegels, A. (2012). *Sustainability-oriented innovation systems – managing the green transformation*. Innovation and Development, Volume 2, Issue. DOI: 10.1080/2157930X.2012.664037.

Aven, T. (2011). *On risk governance deficits*. Safety Science, Volume 49, Issue 6. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2011.02.015.

Aven, T. (2016). *Risk assessment and risk management: Review of recent advances on their foundation*. European Journal of Operational Research, 25, 1-3. Open Access.

Aven, T. (2019). The Science of Risk Analysis. Foundation and Practice. Routledge.

Beg, N., Morlot, J., Davidson, O., Afrane-Okesse, Y., Tyani, L., Denton, F., Sokona, Y., Thomas, J. P., Lèbre La Rovere, E., Parikh, J., Parikh, K. & Rahman, A. (2002). *Linkages between climate change and sustainable development*. Climate Policy. DOI: 10.3763/cpol.2002.0216.

Bareghehet, A., Rowley, J. & Sambrook, S. (2009). *Towards a multidisciplinary definition of innovation*. Management Decision, Volume 47, No. 8. DOI: 10.1108/00251740910984578

Berkhout, F. (2002). *Technological regimes, path dependency and the environment*. Global Environmental Change. Pergamon.

Blok, V., Gremmen, B. & Wesselink, R. (2015). *Dealing with the Wicked Problem of Sustainability: The Role of Individual Virtuous Competence*. Business & Professional Ethics Journal, Vol. 34, No. 3. DOI: 10.5840/bpej201621.

Bond, A. & Morrison-Saunders, A. (2011). *Re-evaluating sustainability assessment: aligning the vision and the practice. Environmental Impact Assessment Review*, 31(1): 1–7.

Bond, A., Morrison-Saunders, A. & Pope, J. (2012). *Sustainability assessment: the state of the art*. Impact Assessment and Project Appraisal, Volume 30, Issue 1. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14615517.2012.661974.

Brooks, M. & Adger, W. (2005). *Assessing and enhancing adaptive capacity*. In Adaptation policy frameworks for climate change: Developing strategies, policies and measures, ed. K. Chopra, R. Leemans, P. Kumar, and H. Simons. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Brønn, C. & Simcic, P. (2018). *Sustainability: A Wicked Problem Needing New Perspectives*.Business strategies for sustainability. Routledge.

Churchman, W. (1967). *Wicked Problems*. Management Science, Vol. 14, No. 4. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.14.4.B141.

Cohen, W. & Levinthal, D. (1990). *Absorptive capacity: a new perspective on learning and innovation*. Administrative Science Quarterly, Hanstein, Vol. 35, pp.128–152.

Damanpour, F. (1996), Organizational complexity and innovation: developing and testing multiple contingency models. Management Science, Volume, No. 5, pp. 693-716.

Desert Control (2021). *Company Presentation. The Results-UAE Desert Example.* Retrieved from

https://static1.squarespace.com/static/595955913a041144867e8268/t/60743f0d70cbbf6139 33d761/1618231061572/Desert+Control+-+Company+Presentation+April+2021.pdf.

Desert Control. (n.d). *How can LNC contribute to the United Nations Sustainable Development Goal (SDGs)?* Retrieved from https://www.desertcontrol.com/faq.

Edwards, W. & von Winterfeldt, D. (1987). *Public values in risk debates*. Risk Analysis, 7, 141-58.

Emas, R. (2015). *The Concept of Sustainable Development: Definition and Defining Principles*. Brief for GSDR 2015. Retrieved from https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/5839GSDR%202015_SD_conce pt_definiton_rev.pdf.

Ellert, B., Clapperton, M. & Anderson, D. (1997). An ecosystem perspective of soil quality.In: Soil Quality for Crop Production and Ecosystem Health. Gregorich, E. G. and Carter, M.R. (eds.). Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp. 115-141.

Elzen, B., Geels, F. & Green, K. (2004). *System Innovation and the Transition to Sustainability. Theory, Evidence and Policy*. Edward Elgar.

Ettlie, J. & Reza, E. (1992). *Organizational integration and process innovation*. Academy of Management Journal, Volume 35, No. 4, pp. 795-827.

Fagerberg, J., Mowery, D. & Nelson, R. (2005). *The Oxford Handbook of Innovation*. Oxford University Press.

FitzGibbon, J. & Mensah, K. (2012). *Climate Change as a Wicked Problem: An Evaluation of the Institutional Context for Rural Water Management in Ghana*. SAGE Open. DOI: 10.1177/2158244012448487.

Foss, S. & Tickner, J. (2008). *Putting risk-risk tradeoffs in perspective: a response to Graham and Wiener*. Journal of Risk Research, Volume 11, Issue 4. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13669870802124413.

Frenken, K. (2007). *Technological innovation and complexity theory*. Economics of Innovation and New Technology, Volume 15, No. 2. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/10438590500141453

Gelyani, A., Abrahamsen, E., Asche, F., Heide, B., Abrahamsen, H. (2014). Are too many safety measures crowding each out? Submitted for possible publication in a scientific journal.

Giddens, A. (1991). *Modernity and Self-Identity. Self and Society in the Late Modern Age.* Polity Press, Cambridge, UK.

Government Office for Science. (2014). *Innovation. Managing Risk, not Avoiding it. Evidence and Case Studies.* Annual Report of the Government Chief Scientific Adviser 2014. Retrieved from https://www.oxfordmartin.ox.ac.uk/downloads/reports/14-1190binnovation-managing-risk-evidence.pdf. Graham, J. & Wiener, J. (1995). *Tradeoffs in Protecting Health and the Environment*. Harvard University Press.

Gichuki, L., Brouwer, R., Davies, J., Vidal, A., Kuzee, M., Magero, C., Walter, S., Lara, P., Oragbade, C. & Gilbey, B. (2019). *Reviving land and restoring landscapes: Policy convergence between forest landscape restoration and land degradation neutrality*. Gland, Switzerland. DOI: https://doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.CH.2019.11.en.

Geels, F. (2004). From sectoral systems of innovation to socio-technical systems: insights about dynamics and change from sociology and institutional theory. Research Policy 33. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2004.01.015.

Geels, F. (2011). *The multi-level perspective on sustainability transitions: Responses to seven criticisms*. Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions. DOI: 10.1016/j.eist.2011.02.002.

Halvorson, J., Smith, J., & Papendick, R. (1997). *Issues of scale for evaluating soil quality*. Journal of Soil and Water Conservation:26-30.

Hautamäki, A. & Oksanen, K. (2016). *Sustainable Innovation: Solving Wicked Problems Through Innovation*. Open Innovation: A Multifaceted Perspective. Chapter 5. pp.87-110. DOI: 10.1142/9789814719186_0005.

Head, B, & Alford, J. (2008). *Wicked Problems: Implications for Policy and Management*. Australian Political Studies Association Conference. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Brian-Head-

2/publication/228645090_Wicked_Problems_The_Implications_for_Public_Management/li nks/0fcfd505ccc9ebc65f000000/Wicked-Problems-The-Implications-for-Public-Management.pdf.

Head, B. (2008). *Wicked problems in public policy*. Public Policy, 3, 101–118. Retrieved from

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/43502862_Wicked_Problems_in_Public_Policy.

Head, B. (2018). Forty years of wicked problems literature: forging closer links to policy studies. Policy and Society. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14494035.2018.1488797

Hellstroem, T. (2001). *Emerging Technological and Systemic Risk: Three Cases with Management Suggestions*. Contribution to the OECD International Futures Project on Emerging Systemic Risks. pp. 132. Paris: OECD.

Henschel, T. & Durst, S. (2016). *Risk management in Scottish, Chinese and German small and medium-sized enterprises: a country comparison*. International Journal of Entrepreneurship and Small Business, Volume 29 No. 1, pp. 112-132.

Idland, A. (2021). CNN Report on Desert Control Mobile Factory.

Incropera, F. (2015). *Climate Change: A Wicked Problem – Complexity and Uncertainty at the Intersection of Science, Economics, Politics and Human Behavior*. Cambridge University Press.

Jaeger, C., Renn, O., Rosa, E. and Webler, Th. (2001). *Risk, Uncertainty and Rational Action*. Earthscan, London.

Jalonen, H. (2011). *The Uncertainty of Innovation: A Systematic Review of the Literature*. Journal of Management Research. DOI: :10.5296/jmr.v4i1.1039.

Jasanoff, S. (2004). Ordering knowledge, ordering society. In States of Knowledge: The Co-Production of Science and Social Order. Routledge. pp. 13–45.

Jensen, A., & Aven, T. (2018). *A new definition of complexity in a risk analysis setting*. Reliability Engineering & System Safety, 171, 169–173. DOI: 10.1016/j.ress.2017.11.018

Kertész, Á. (2009). *The global problem of land degradation and desertification*. Hungarian Geographical Bulletin 2009. Vol. 58. No 1. pp. 19–31. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/280015362_The_global_problem_of_land_degra dation_and_desertification.

Klinke, A. & Renn, O. (2011). *Adaptive and integrative governance on risk and uncertainty*. Journal of Risk Research. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13669877.2011.636838

Klinke, A. & O. Renn, O. (2002). A New Approach to Risk Evaluation and Management: Risk-Based, Precaution-Based and Discourse-Based Management. Risk Analysis 22(6): 1071–1094.

Koppenjan, F. & Klijn, E. (2004). *Managing Uncertainties in Networks*. London: Routledge. DOI: https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203643457.

Konrad, K., Truffer, B., Voss, J. (2008). *Multi-regime dynamics in the analysis of sectoral transformation potentials: evidence from German utility sectors*. Journal of Cleaner Production. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2007.08.014.

Kuhlman, T. & Farrington, J. (2010). *What is Sustainability?* Sustainability, MDPI. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3390/su2113436.

Kverneland, H. (2020, May 20th). Personal Interview.

Lal, R. (2012). Climate Change and Soil Degradation Mitigation by Sustainable Management of Soils and Other Natural Resources. Agricultural Research 1. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s40003-0.

Lehtonen, A., Salonen, A., Cantell, H. & Riuttanen, L. (2018). A pedagogy of *interconnectedness for encountering climate change as a wicked sustainability problem*. Journal of Cleaner Production. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.07.186.

Lehtonen, A., Salonen, A. & Cantell, H. (2019). *Climate Change Education: A New Approach for a World of Wicked Problems*. In Cook, J. (ed.), Sustainability, Human Well-Being, and the Future of Education. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-78580-6_11.

Linton, J. (2009). *De-Babelizing the Language of Innovation*. Technovation, pp. 729-737. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2009.04.006.

MacKay, R. (2008). *Nonlinearity in complexity science*. Nonlinearity. 21. DOI: 10.1088/0951-7715/21/12/T03.

Menon A., Chowdhury J. & Lukas, B. (2002). Antecedents and outcomes of new product development speed - an interdisciplinary conceptual framework. Industrial Marketing

Management, Volume 31, pp. 317-328. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0019-8501(01)00163-8.

Milbrath, L. (1989). *Envisioning a Sustainable Society. Learning our way out.* State University of New York Press.

Neiendam, N. & Winding, A. (2002). Microorganisms as indicators of soil health. NERITechnicalReportNo.388.Retrievedfromdmu.dk/1_Viden/2_Publikationer/3_Fagrapporter/rapporter/FR388.pdf.

Newman, L. & Dale, A. (2005). *Network structure, diversity, and proactive resilience building: a response to Tompkins and Adger*. Ecology and Society 10. Retrieved from http://www.ecologyandsociety.org/vol10/iss1/resp2/.

Newman, L. (2005). Uncertainty, innovation, and dynamic sustainable development. Sustainability: Science, Practice and Policy. DOI: 10.1080/15487733.2005.11907970.

Oksanen, K. & Hautamäki, A. (2015). *Sustainable Innovation: A Competitive Advantage for Innovation Ecosystems*. Technology Innovation Management Review. DOI: 10.22215/timreview/934.

Olesen, K. & Julseth, A. (2015). *Liquid NanoClay changes sandy soil into fertile soil in 7 hours*. *Liquid NanoClay Explained*. Desert Control. Retrieved from https://media-exp1.licdn.com/dms/document/C4E2DAQHDle4MRh3a9A/profile-treasury-document-pdf-analyzed/0/1583720626230?e=1621501200&v=beta&t=bfZ1asSuDjZjOlb52Dlj3YsM5aFjj RXUCq9-mV8c8pc.

Olson, R. (1994). *Alternative Images of a Sustainable Future*. Futures, Volume 26, Issue 2. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-3287(94)90105-8.

Ottosson, S., Moldavska, A., Ogorodnyk, O. & Skogsrød, T. (2016). *What is and how to develop sustainable innovation?* Leadership, Innovation and Entrepreneurship as Driving Forces of the Global Economy (pp.191-209). DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-43434-6_16.

57

Peterson, M. (2006). *The Precautionary Principle is Incoherent*. Risk Anaysis, 26 (3), 595-601.

Peters, G. (2017). What is so wicked about wicked problems? A conceptual analysis and a research program. Policy and Society, Volume 36, Issue 3. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14494035.2017.1361633.

Porter, M. & van der Linde, C. (1995). *Toward a new conception of the environment competitiveness relationship*. Journal of Economic Perspectives, 97-118.

Poutanen, P., Soliman, W. & Ståhle, P. (2015). *The complexity of innovation: an assessment and review of the complexity perspective*. European Journal of Innovation Management. DOI: 10.1108/EJIM-03-2014-0036.

Pryshlakivsky, J. & Searcy, C. (2012). *Sustainable Development as a Wicked Problem*. In Avelino, A. & Kovacic, S. (ed.), Managing and Engineering in Complex Situations, Chapter 6. Springer. DOI: 10.1007/978-94-007-5515-4_6.

Raven, R. (2007). *Co-evolution of waste and electricity regimes: multi-regime dynamics in the Netherlands* (1969–2003). Energy Policy 35. DOI: 10.1016/j.enpol.2006.07.005.

Renn, O., Goble, R. & Kastenholz, H. (1998). *How to Apply the Concept of Sustainability to a Region*. Technological Forecasting and Social Change, Volume 58, Issues 1–2. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-1625(97)00072-3.

Renn, O. & Rocco, M. (2006). *Nanotechnology and the need for risk governance*. Journal of Nanoparticle Research. DOI: 10.1007/s11051-006-9092-7.

Renn, O. (2008). *Risk Governance. Coping with Uncertainty in a Complex World*. London: Earthscan.

Renn, O., Jäger, A., Deuschle, J. & Weimer-Jehle, W. (2009). *A normative-functional concept of sustainability and its indicators*. International Journal of Environmental Global Issues, Volume 9, No. 4. DOI: 10.1504/IJGENVI.2009.02726.

Renn, O. & Goble, R. (2009). A regional concept of qualitative growth and sustainability support for a case study in the German State of Baden-Württemberg. International Journal of Sustainable Development & World Ecology. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13504509609469931.

Renn, O. & Klinke, A. (2013). A Framework of Adaptive Risk Governance for Urban Planning. Sustainability, 5. DOI: 10.3390/su5052036.

Renn, O., Klinke, A., & van Asselt, M. (2011). *Coping with Complexity, Uncertainty and Ambiguity in Risk Governance: A Synthesis.* AMBIO, Journal of the Human Environment.

Renn, O. (2012). Sustainability: The need for societal discourse. In: Civil Society for Sustainability. A Guidebook for Connecting Science and Society. Renn, O., Reichel, A. & Bauer, J. (Eds.).

Renn, O. (2015). *Stakeholder and Public Involvement on Risk Governance*. International Journey of Disaster Risk Science. DOI: 10.1007/s13753-015-0037-6.

Renn, O. (2016). *Systemic risks: The new kid on the block*. Environment: Science and Policy for Sustainable Development, 58 (2), 26-36.

Robinson, J. & Herbert, D. (2001). *Integrating climate change and sustainable development*. International Journal of Global Environmental Issues, Vol. 1, No. 2. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1504/IJGENVI.2001.000974.

Roberts, N. (2000). Wicked problems and network approaches to resolution. InternationalPublicManagementReview.Retrievedfromhttps://journals.sfu.ca/ipmr/index.php/ipmr/article/view/175/175.

Robert, K., Parris, T. & Leiserowitz, A. (2005) *What is Sustainable Development? Goals, Indicators, Values, and Practice*. Environment: Science and Policy for Sustainable Development. DOI: 10.1080/00139157.2005.10524444.

Rockström, J., Johan, R., Steffen, W., Noone, K., Persson, Å., Stuart, F., Lambin, E., Lenton, T., Scheffer, M., Folke, C., Schellnhuber, H., Nykvist, B., de Wit, C., Hughes, T., van der Leeuw, S., Rodhe, H., Sörlin, S., Snyder, P., Costanza, R., Svedin, U., Falkenmark, M., Kar

lberg, L., Corell, R., Fabry, V., Hansen, J., Walker, B., Liverman, D., Richardson, K., Crutz

en, P. & Foley, J. 2009. *Planetary boundaries: Exploring the safe operating space for humanity*. Ecology and Society, Volume 14, No. 2. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1038/461472a.

Roper, S. & Tapinos, E. (2016). Taking risks in the face of uncertainty: An exploratory analysis of green innovation. Technological Forecasting and Social Change Volume 112, pp. 357-363. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2016.07.037.

Rotmans, J., Kemp, R., Asselt, M. (2001). *More Evolution than Revolution: Transition Management in Public Policy*. Foresight, Vol. 3 No. 1, pp. 15-31. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1108/14636680110803003.

Rittel, H. & Webber, M. (1973). *Dilemmas in a General Theory of Planning*. Policy Sciences 4, 155-169. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01405730.

Sanderson, I. (2002). *Making sense of what works: Evidence-based policy making as instrumental rationality?* Public Policy Admin. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/095207670201700305.

Schmieg, G., Meyer, E., Schrickel, I., Herberg, J., Caniglia, G., Vilsmaier, U., Laubichler, M., Ho, E. & Daniel Lang, D. (2018). *Modeling normativity in sustainability: a comparison of the sustainable development goals, the Paris agreement, and the papal encyclical.* Sustainability Science. DOI: 10.1007/s11625-017-0504-7.

Schneider, F., Kläy, A., Zimmermann, A., Buser, T., Ingalls, M. & Messerli, P. (2019). *How* can science support the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development? Four tasks to tackle the normative dimension of sustainability. Sustainability Science 14. DOI: 10.1007/s11625-019-00675-y.

Sediri, S., Trommetter, M., Frascaria-Lacoste, N. & Fernandez-Manjarrés, J. (2020). *Transformability as a Wicked Problem: A Cautionary Tale?* Sustainability, 12. DOI: 10.3390/su12155895.

Smith, A., Voß, J.P. & Grin, J. Innovation studies and sustainability transitions: The allure of the multi-level perspective and its challenges. Research Policy, Volume 39, Issue 4. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2010.01.023.

Sivertsen, O. (2012). *NanoClay: The Liquid Turning Desert into Farmland*. Interview by Rachel Lovell for BBC. Retrieved from https://www.bbc.com/future/bespoke/follow-the-food/the-spray-that-turns-deserts-into-farmland.html.

Sivertsen, O. (2019). *Liquid NanoClay for a Flourishing Desert*. Acceler8 Norway, Game Changers. Norway Investor Summit, 2019.

Sohi, S. (2021). *NanoClay: The Liquid Turning Desert into Farmland*. Interview by Rachel Lovell for BBC. Retrieved from https://www.bbc.com/future/bespoke/follow-the-food/the-spray-that-turns-deserts-into-farmland.html.

Stirling, A. (2009) *Direction, Distribution and Diversity! Pluralizing Progress in Innovation, Sustainability and Development.* STEPS Working Paper 32, Brighton: STEPS Centre.

Stefánsson, O. (2019). On the limits of the precautionary principle. Risk Analysis.

Su, H & Moaniba, I. (2017). *Does innovation respond to climate change? Empirical evidence from patents and greenhouse gas emissions*. Technological Forecasting & Social Change. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2017.04.017.

Sun, J., & Yang, K. (2016). *The Wicked Problem of Climate Change: A New Approach Based on Social Mess and Fragmentation*. Sustainability. 8. DOI: 10.3390/su8121312.

Supaphol, O. (2021, May 10th). Personal Interview.

Taylor, S. (2017). What Is Innovation? A Study of the Definitions, Academic Models and Applicability of Innovation to an Example of Social Housing in England. Open Journal of Social Sciences. DOI: 10.4236/jss.2017.511010.

Temel, S. & Durst, S. (2020). *Knowledge risk prevention strategies for handling new technological innovations in small businesses*. Journal of Information and Knowledge Management Systems. DOI: 10.1108/VJIKMS-10-2019-0155.

United Nations (2015). *Sustainable Development Goals*. Regional Information Centre for Western Europe. Retrieved from https://unric.org/en/united-nations-sustainable-development-goals/.

United Nations. (2020). *Frontier technologies to protect the environment and tackle climate change*. Retrieved from https://www.itu.int/en/action/environment-and-climate-change/Documents/frontier-technologies-to-protect-the-environment-and-tackle-climate-change.pdf.

United Nations (2021). Desertification and Drought- the United Nations. Retrieved from https://www.un.org/esa/agenda21/natlinfo/countr/norway/desertification.pdf.

Van Bueren, E., Klijn, H. & Koppenjan, J. (2003). *Dealing with Wicked Problems in Networks: Analyzing an Environmental Debate from a Network Perspective*. Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory. DOI: 10.1093/jopart/mug017.

van Asselt, M. & Renn, O. (2011). *Risk Governance*. Journal of Risk Research, Volume 14, Issue 4. DOI: 10.1080/13669877.2011.553730.

van Asselt & van Bree. (2011). *Uncertainty, precaution, and risk governance*. Journal of Risk Research, Volume 14, Issue 4: Uncertainty, Precaution and Risk Governance. DOI: 10.1080/13669877.2011.553734.

Verweij, M. & Thompson, M. (2006). *Clumsy solutions for a complex world: Governance, politics and plural perceptions*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.

von Schomberg, R. (1995). *The erosion of the valuespheres. The ways in which society copes with scientific, moral and ethical uncertainty*. In: von Schomberg, R. (Ed.): Contested Technology. Ethics, Risk and Public Debate, International Centre for Human and Public Affairs, Tilburg, pp.13–28.

Ward, S. (2003). Approaches to Integrated Risk Management: A Multi-Dimensional Framework. Risk Management, Vol. 5, No. 4, pp. 7-23. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/3867826?seq=1#metadata_info_tab_contents

Wiener, J. (2004). The regulation of technology, and the technology of regulation.Technology in Society Volume 26, Issues 2–3. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techsoc.2004.01.033.

Woodward, G., Perkins, D. & Brown, L. (2010). *Climate change and freshwater ecosystems: impacts across multiple levels of organization*. Biological Sciences. DOI: 10.1098/rstb.2010.0055.

World Commission on Environment and Development (1987) *Our Common Future (The Brundtland Report)*. Oxford University Press, Oxford.

Zijp, M., Posthuma, L., Wintersen, A., Devilee, J. & Swartjes, F. (2016). *Definition and use of Solution-focused Sustainability Assessment: A novel approach to generate, explore and decide on sustainable solutions for wicked problems*. Environment International. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2016.03.006.

Zijp, M. (2017). *Developing Solution-focused Sustainability Assessments*. Radboud University, Nijmegen. Retrieved from https://www.rivm.nl/sites/default/files/2018-11/Proefschrift%20Michiel%20Zijp_Developing%20Solution-focused%20Sustainability%20Assessments.pdf.